
IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

MOHAMMAD HAMED,

. Plaintiff,

v.

FATHI YUSUF,

Defendant.

Case No.: 2014-SX-CV-278

ACT¡ON FOR DEBT AND
CONVERSION

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

IN SUPPORT FOR STAY OF DISCOVERY

Plaintiff Hamed requests a stay of discovery where one party (Defendant Yusuf)

has refused to provide its full discovery responses because it argues that necessary (or

even fully dispositive) points may be decided in another, parallel action (Hamed v.

Yusuf, SX-12-cv-370, V.l. Superior Court (Brady, J.)). Although Yusuf refused to fully

comply with discovery here rather than seeking a protective order - Hamed agrees, but

seeks a more formal stay. Yusuf stated the following in his Response to lnterrogatories

dated February 17, 2016 (Exhibit I ) (emphasis added).

1. Describe all claims and/or counterclaims you have or may have with
regard to plaintiff for any type of relief, including but not limited to money
damages, and for each such claim, describe all factual bases and all
documents or other evidence which support the claim(s).

. . . .to the extent that the funds relating to the Y & S Corporation stock
sale by Hisham Hamed and Nejah Yusuf could be considered partnership
monies and subject to accounting, Yusuf shows that a full accounting
between the parties will be submitted as part of the Hamed v. Yusuf,
et al, Civil No. SX -12-CV-370 (the "370 Case") [hereinafter "the Main
Case"].
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This position is consistent with the fact that Yusuf has already admitted under oath, in

deposition that the funds at issue are owed to Hamed, but that he will not pay the funds

until the accounting that wíll occur in the Main Case. Exhibit 2, Dep. of Fathi Yusuf,

April 2, 2014 at p. 100, ln. 19-20. ln addition, in that same testimony at pp.99-106, he

discusses the handwritten note he authored that shows the calculation of the amount

due to Hamed from the Dorthea sale at issue here. See Exhibit 3 (handwritten note).

l. Legal Standard

It is black letter law that "[t]he Federal Rules of Civil Procedure do not explicitly

mention stays, either generally or in the context of discovery. lnstead, judges cite either

to a court's 'inherent authority' to manage the cases before it or, in the context of stays

of discovery, to the broad language of Rule 26(c), which authorizes 'any order which

justice requires to protect a party . . . from annoyance, embarrassment, oppression, or

undue burden or expense.' Kevin J. Lynch, When Staying Discovery Sfays Justice:

Analyzing Motions to Stay Discovery When a Motion to Dismiss is Pending, 47 Wake

Forest Law Review 71,76-77 (2012) (footnotes omitted).

Coufts have read the language of Rule 26(c) as enabling them to issue
orders staying discovery upon a showing of "good cause" by the moving
pafty or parties. Courts cite to one of these sources of authority, if
anything, when issuing written decisions on motions to stay discovery.
Stays of proceedings in federal court, including stays of discovery, are
committed to the discretion of the trial court.

ld. at 77. (footnotes omitted).

It is clear that where a pending case will likely provide either a partial or full

answer to major issues presented, a stay of discovery is warranted. Munson v. Gaetz,

No. 3:11-CV-159-GPM-DGW, 2013 WL 5526659, at *1 (S.D. lll. Oct. 7,2013)
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("Defendants seek to stay discovery pending the outcome of a Central District case

concerníng soy in prisoners' diets. . . .To avoid unnecessary duplication and litigation of

the same issues, the discovery in this matter is STAYED pending the outcome of Harris,

et al. v. Brown, et al."). See a/so Gagan v. Monroe, No. 2:87-CV-732, 2014 WL

5817560, at *3 (N.D. lnd. Nov. 10, 2014).

II. ARGUMENT

A. Facts

This action is one of a slew of lawsuits surrounding the Yusuf family's failed

attempt to simply take half of all of the assets of the three Plaza Extra Supermarkets

from the Hamed family. Thus, a proper understanding of the facts of this action begins

with the facts of the Main Case, Hamed v. Yusuf, Case No. SX-12-CV-370 and the

larger universe of troubles between the Yusuf and Hamed families. Fortunately, Judge

Brady has made a detailed fact record in the Main Case (Exhibit 4). Hamed v. Yusuf,

2013 WL 1846506 (V.1. Super. Ct. April 25, 2013) (Memorandum and Order following

a two-day hearing at the end of January 2013, where there was extensive

documentary and testimonial evidence concerning Fathi Yusuf's attempt to steal the

Hamed half of the Plaza Extra Partnership. Since then, the Court has also entered

summary judgment as to Hamed's 50% interest and divided the stores.)

Mohammad Hamed and Fathi Yusuf, both now well into their 70's, were close

childhood friends from the same village in Jordan]. ld. at2. ln 1986, Fathi Yusuf and

Mohammad Hamed began a partnership that would spawn a very successful chain of

three large supermarkets (the "Plaza Extra Supermarket Partnership") and a healthy

portfolio of other mutually shared business and real property interests. ld. at2-3. Far
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beyond their business bond, the Hamed and Yusuf families were the closest of family

friends. ld. at2.

ln or about 2011, trouble began between the families when Fathi Yusuf started

to state that he owned all of the Plaza Extra Supermarket Partnership. ln 2012 -
despite the knowledge of the entire community that Fathi Yusuf and Mohammad

Hamed together, built, operated and jointly owned the Plaza Extra Partnership - Fathi

Yusuf declared that Mohammad Hamed was simply an illiterate, retired backroom

worker and his sons were just employees of a corporation ("United Corporation") solely

owned by the Yusuf family. Defendanfs' Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion to Compel

Defendants to Comply with the Preliminary lnjunction, SX-12-cv-270 at I (Exh¡b¡t 5).

Then, Fathi Yusuf and his son Maher ("Mike") Yusuf moved $2.7 million from the Plaza

Extra partnership operating account on which both families had signatory power to a

Yusuf-only account. Hamed, 2013 WL 1846506, at "5. Fathi and Mike Yusufs'

unilateral taking of more than $Z.l million of partnership funds triggered the

commencement of the Main Case, where Mohammad Hamed sought, among other

things, a declaration of the existence of the Plaza Extra Partnership and his ownership

of 50%.

There is no dispute that Fathi Yusuf claimed that his United Corporation owned

everything, Mohammad Hamed was just an illiterate backroom worker and

Mohammad's sons were just salaried employees. Opp'n to Mot. to Compel, at 8.

There is no dispute that Fathi Yusuf called the police and tried to have the Hameds

removed from the stores-threatening to close the stores if this was not done.

Hamed,2013 WL 1846506, at 6. There is no dispute that the Yusufs cashed a Plaza
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Extra Supermarkets' operating account check (signed by Fathi Yusuf and Mike Yusuf)

for $2,784,706.25 and placed it into a Yusuf only account over the Hameds' multiple,

written objections. ld. at 5. lt is also a matter of record under oath that although they

repeatedly told the Hameds (and Mike Yusuf testified to the Court) that the funds

remained in United, this was not true. /d. at 5. Judge Brady found as follows

concerning Mike Yusuf's lies and the Yusuf family's theft of more than $2.7 million

from the Plaza Extra Partnership:

35. On or about August 15, 2012, Yusuf wrote a check signed by
himself and his son [Mike] Yusuf and made payment to United in the
amount of $2,784,706.25 from a segregated Plaza Extra Supermarket
operating account, despite written objection of Waleed Hamed on behalf
of Plaintiff and the Hamed family . . . .

36. On the first hearing day, [Mike] Yusuf, President of United
Corporation, testified under oath that he used the 92,784,706.25
withdrawn from the Plaza Extra operating account to buy three properties
on St. Croix in the name of United. On the second hearing day, [Mike]
Yusuf contradicted his prior testimony and admitted that those
withdrawn funds had actually been used to invest in businesses not
owned by United, including a mattress business . . . . /d. at 5.

The issue present in both the Main Case and the present case involves the

proceeds from the sale of property in Estate Dorthea on St. Thomas ("Dofthea

property"), which was purchased by the Y & S Corporation and funded by the

HamedAlusuf partnership. Id. al5. Mr. Hamed's son, Hisham Hamed ("Shawn") and

Mr. Yusuf's son, Nejeh Yusuf ("Nejeh") were provided partnership funds to allow each to

own 25o/o of the stock in the Y & S Corporation (Exhibit 6). Shawn Hamed received all

of his funds from his father and assigned all of his interest in the Y & S Corporation to

his father, Mohammad Hamed. The Dorthea property was sold and the proceeds were

given to Fathi Yusuf as the seller's nominee (Exhibits 7). Mr. Yusuf now refuses to
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give Mr. Hamed his half of the proceeds. Hamed,2013 WL 1846506, at 5

B. Judicial Economy Warrants A Stay in Discovery Until Matters are
Properly Disposed of in the Main Case, SX-12-cv-370

Hamed filed this action because Yusuf goes back and forth as to which case the

Dorthea proceeds properly belong. ln his First Amended Answer and Counterclaim in

the present case, Mr. Yusuf averred on August 27,2014 (emphasis added):

39. The receipt and distribution of proceeds of the sale of the Dorothea
property is a corporate issue, not a partnership issue, and therefore
should not be part of any partnership accounting.

However, in the Main Case, on September 24,2014, in Fathi Yusuf's Objectíons

and Responses to Plaintiff's Requesfs for Admissions, Mr. Yusuf responded with the

following (emphasis added)

3. ADMIT that the issue of the $802,955 allegedly due to Hamed as set
forth in SX.14-CV-278,1S an issue presented in the instant action [the
Main Gasel.

RESPONSE:
Admitted.

He has made similar statements going both ways in the present case. Mr. Yusuf

avers in his Frsf Amended Answer and Counterclaim that his partnership claims

(including rent payments he has already received in the Main Case, as well as a finding

that the removal of the $2.7 million from partnership was proper) should be addressed

here as a counterclaim despite the fact that all of these exact claims are already at

issue in the Main Case pursuant to a Yusuf counterclaim there. Matters in the Main

Case are well along. Indeed, on January 7,2015, Judge Brady issued an Order

Adopting Final Wind Up Plan. The Plaza Extra stores have been transferred out of the

paÉnership and a final accounting is being completed now.
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lll. Gonclusion

Because of the extensive work that has already been done in the Main Case and

the overlapping claims that the present case has with the Main Case, judicial economy

warrants a stay of discovery until either the Main Case has been fully adjudicated or it

has become clear that the claims here are (or are not) being adjudicated there. This will

prevent duplicative discovery,'reduce litigation costs and preserve judicial resources.

For these reasons, Plaintiff Hamed respectfully requests a stay of díscovery until the

partnership issues in SX-1

Dated: February 26,2016

2-cv-370 are more fully I

J olt, Esq.
for Plaintiff

Law Offices of Joel H. Holt
2132 Company Street,
Christiansted, St. Croix
U,S. Virgin lslands 00820
(340) 77 3-87 09 lholtvi@aol.com

Garl J. Hartmann lll, Esq.
5000 Estate Coakley Bay, L-6
Christiansted, Vl 00820
(340) 71e-8e41
ca rl@ca rl ha rtmann. com

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 26th day of February, 2016, I served a copy of the
foregoing Notice by email, as agreed by the parties, on:

GREGORY H. HODGES
Dudley, Topper and Feuerzeig, LLP
Law House, 10000 Frederiksberg Gade
P.O. Box 756
St. Thomas, Vl 00804-0756
(340) 715-4405
Email: ghodges@dtflaw.com

NIZAR A. DEWOOD
The Dewood Law Firm
2006 Eastern Suburb, Suite 101
Christiansted, Vl 00820
(340) 773-3444
Email: law@gmail.com



IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRGINISLA¡IDS
DTWSIONOF ST. CROIX

MOHAMMAD HAMED,

Plaintifi

FATHI YUSUF,

Defendant.

Case No. : SX-20 1 4-CV - 27 I

ACTION FOR DEBT AND
CONVERSION

DEFENDANT FATHI YUSUF'S RESPONSE TO
PLAINTIFF' S INTERROGATORIES

DEFENDANT FATHI YUSUF''S OBJECTIONS AND
RESPONSE TO PLAINTIFF'S
FIRSTINTERROGATORIES

COMES NOV/, Defendant Fathi Yusuf ("Yusuf') through counsel, hereby responds to

Plaintiff s January 5,2016 First Interrogatories to Defendant Fathi Yusuf and shows as

follows:

1. Describe all claims and/or counterclaims you have or may have with regard to plaintiff
for any type of relief, including but not limited to money damages, and for each such
claim, describe all factual bases and all documents or other evidence which support the
claim(s).

As set forth in his Answer and Counterclaim, (FAA), Yusuf shows that any monies which
could be characterized as monies owned by the Yusuf and Hamed partnership and which were
invested in Y & S Corporation had lost their status as partnership monies when the original
purchase was made. (FAA, fl6). Rather, the receipt and distribution of proceeds relating to the
Dorthea Property and Y & S Corporation stock which is the subject of this litigation is a
co{porate issue and should not be part of any partnership accounting. (FAA, fl39). Yusuf
objects to this Request insofar as the premise of this suit involves the sale of Y & S stock by
Hisham Hamed and Nejeh Yusuf. To the extent that any claims exist relating to the sale of the
Y & S stock, those claims would be Hisham Hamed's claims against Fathi Yusuf, as nominee
and is not properly a claim of Mohammed Hamed. Hence, Mohammed Hamed has no standing
to bring this claim. Subject to the above objections, to the extent that the funds relating to the
Y & S Corporation stock sale by Hisham Hamed and Nejah Yusuf could be considered
partnership monies and subject to accounting, Yusuf shows that a full accounting between the
parties will be submitted as part of the Hamed v. Yusuf, et al, Civil No. SX -12-CY-370 (the
"370 Case").



IN THE SUPER]OR COURT OF THE VIRG]N ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CRO]X

MOHAMMED HAMED by His Authorized
Agent WALEED HAMED,

Plainti f f /Counterclaim Defendant.,

VS. Case No. SX-12-CV-370

FATHI YUSUF and UNTTED CORPORATION,

De fendant s /Counterclaimants,

lte

WALEED HAMED, WAHEED HAMED, MUFEED
HAMED, HISHAM HAMED, and PLESSEN
ENTERPRTSES, INC.,

Additional Counterclaím Defendants.

THE VIDEOTAPED ORAL DEPOSITION OF FATHI YUSUF

h/as taken on the 2nd day of April, 2074, at the Law Offices

2006 Eastern Suburb, Christiansted,of Adam Hoover,

St. Croix, U.S.

9:I7 a.m. and 4

Rules of Civil

Virgin Islands, between the hours of

:16 p.m., pursuant to Notice and Federal

Procedure.

Reported by:

Cheryl L. Haase
Reqistered Professionaf Reporter

Caribbean Scribes, Inc.
2132 Company Street, Suite 3

Christiansted, St. Croix U. S.V. I
(340) 113-816r
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Cheryl L. Haase
(340) 113-8167

A. (Mr.

Exhibit No. 12,

you recognize t

A. Yes,

(Deposition Exhibit No. 12 was

marked for identi-fication. )

Holt) AJ-J- right. All right. Showing you

can you tell- me if you recoqnize that? Do

hat document --

it's my handwriting.

top 1t has "Dorothia" written, is thatA. And at the

correct?

A. Yes.

A. Can you te11 me, what -- what -- what what. does

this transaction mean?

A. The transaction that we bought -- we $ras in

partnership with a third person, that we own 50 percent of

the Dorothia real estate -- a real estate in Dorothia, and

the other partner owned the other 50 percent.

Finally, f come to this decision to sell it

to my partner. He bought it at one-and-a-ha1f mi11ion, and

this number below, it was an idea to Mr. Hamed what would

I -- T am counted for, up to the time I give it to him. I

tel-l him what it is. By example, Jordan Fund, 75,000, it's

a checking account. This, I'm going to recfaim it back.

Because at that time I did it, I did it in the most honest

wây, and we end up transferring property to myseJ-f. That

transfer the property cost me money, wel1, I have to put

that money out of my or^/n pocket, even though the obliqation25
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Cheryl L. Haase
(340) 113-8767

was on both of us.

And then T'm going to use whatever it cost me

to transfer that property into my name, at the expense of

both of us, even though we missing three, four property that

he never transferred it to me. It's stil-l- ín his name. He

said no, but I can c1aim, I can prove, stil-l in his name.

A. And is that actualÌy technically YNH Investments,

Inc. ? Is that

A. Yes.

A. Okay. So now the first Iine,

that

Dorothia,

1.5 miJ-lion, those were the funds you received when the

other partner bought

A. Excuse me,

A. The first

A. Yeah, this

Dorothia.

you out

sir?

line, the

or paid you off?

1 .5 mif lion on t.hat line?

isafundlreceived I received from

a

received

stealing

A

Okay. And -- and so those \^rere

from them, is that correct?

f received for our half, but I

it. We're going to account for

funds that you

kept it. I'm not

ir.
9. okay.

A. This is yours, t.his is mine.

Excuse me. T going back a

the 251r000. That wasn't Mr. Hamed money.

were giving him $150,000 to the batch plant,

little bit towards

Mr. Hamed, I

and f have25
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Cheryl L. Haase
(340) 113-876r

proof I deposited it for him in St. Thomas. And up to now,

he denying that money. That money, f give him $150,000 to

del-iver to the batch plant, and he claim that the batch

plant is ours.

town fiqht

a.

plant, but

A.

a

Itrs not ours. We put it just not to let the

together.

Okay. I am going to ask you about the batch

Oh, whenever you want.

I want to try to stick on this document?

A. Yeah. But I want to show you why these people, I

believe they or^¡e me a l-ot of money.

A. I understand.

A. Why should I pay them? Letrs sit down and say,

What is yours and what is mine.

A. No problem. Let me g¡o down this l-ist.

Dorothia is -- the 1.5 mil-lion were -- were

monies paid that belonged to you and -- and Mr. Hamed?

A, Yes.

A. And then the Jordan fund, it says 75,000 dinar. T

take it that, converted,

A. Right.

A. Okay. and those

thatrs \05,932 U.S. dollars?

are funds that are to be split

between you and Mr. Hamed, as well?

A. f explained to you, sir.25
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Cheryl L. Haase
(340) 113-816r

A. Yeah.

A. The 105 is by mistake. I end up transferring from

his -- the property was mine and his.

A. Right.

A. And I choose for some reason to put. it in his

name, because f trusted him.

A. Riqht.

A. Now, when we decide to leave, we have to shake

hands forever. Ilm not looking back anymore. f need my

Mohammad.half back,

a.

one youtre

A.

that plot number, the the

We have I,200 or two r,200

we have properties, too much.

acre right here in the Virgin

Mr

What is -- what is

tal-king about?

Several. We have

fslands.

A. okay.

A. Were owned between both

A. Atl right. So then the

it says, 617,000 for Fathi Yusuf.

A. No. Yeah, this is I

should give him that. This is my

line comes down and

don't know why I

I went. and bought

of us

next

I

half.

the

you

property with

A. Okay.

A. After f

no more.

ir.
So you

give him notice, I don't want to work with

25
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A. So we tell you what, let's get to the bottom

is 5802,966.At the bottom of this cal-culation

A. Sir,

on account.

Do you see that?

it's a lot of -- this 8,200 (sic) I owe him

A. Okay.

A. We sit down, he give what f owe him to the

accountant, I give what I believe he owe me to the

accountant, and letrs (indicati.g) .

A. Okay.

A. Let I s, what

and who owe who, we'l1

do you cal-l it, reconcile the account,

settl-e . I 'm not running a\^ray.

9. Okay. So one of the items that you obre them for,

I understand there are items back and forth, but one of the

j-tems you oh/e him is the 802,960

A. Not 802, sir. I toJ-d you I already spent 105, or

most of it, in a property where both of us is responsibl-e to

spend that money.

A. Okay. So you would take the 105 off of this 802?

A. I might -- well, the others yeah, this that

shoul-d go of f .

!4R. HART!4AI[N: Half.

A. (Mr. HolÈ) Hal-f of that shoufd go off?

A. Yeah, but I -- sir, thanks God, I -- I -- you

know, Irm not speaking Arabic, not even one word up to now.25
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Cheryl L. Haase
(340) 773-Br6t

Okay? They aI1 English. r'm talking to you in plain

English. Let.'s sit down and give this to an accountant and

what j-s yours is yours, what is mine 1s mine. I have a

check of 536t405, begging Mr. Wally to give me an ans,,^/er for

this check. This is written to your father, drawn on your

account. Can you teì-1 me what is this for?

A. Okay.

A. Al-1 f rm getting, I'11 get to the bottom of it.

When this gentleman is going to reach the bottom?

A. All right. So the sal-e of -- the money in

Dorothia was 1.5 million, to be split between the two of

you -

A Yes,

Okay.

come up with the

And then you did some more accounting to

fact --

A. Yeah, this will go, and we'.1-1 go throuqh every

his, whatever isl-ittle thing, right? Whatever is his is

ml-ne l_s mrne.

Okay.

f 'm not denying anything

right. And on

sar.

I

yês, but all-

that pile, is 802,966 is

of it is not his.

of this is not his.

Because therets an accountant. Some of it, T tol-d

yoür by exampJ-e, the bank statement.

a

A

a

A

a

A

Atl

Yes,

Al_1

25
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A. Which is another -- another j-tem.

A. Def initeJ-y this was an expense. I brought that

money out.

A. Okay. So you start with the 1.5 mill-ion, which is

50/50, and then you start adding --

A. One million and a half is absofutely 50/50. frm

not hiding anything.

A. Okay. And when did you get that money?

A. I get that money, f don't have a date. But I get

that money maybe, f can guarantee you, it's not three years.

Itrs l-ess than three years. I sol-d this property many, many

years ago.

9. Okay. So you got this money, would it be faj-r to

say you got it in 2012?

A. I don't know when.

A. okay.

A. I donrt remember.

A. We1l, this lawsuit was fil-ed in August of 2012.

Did you get the money before this lawsuit was filed?

¡4R. HODGES: September 2012.

A. Maybe. Look at the date. Go to the owner and

l-ook at the date, or go to the public recorder office.

That's something that can be resolved.

A. (Mr.Hott) okay.

A. I don't. remember.

Cheryl L. Haase
(340) 113-8167
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A. So you don't remember when it was sol-d.

A. No. At least Irm not hiding anything, but I donrt

remember when I sold it.

A. All right. Let's go back to the batch plant then.

Explain to me, first of all, how -- how was the batch --

batch pJ-ant first purchased? How did you -- how did that

get -- where did the funds come from to buy that batch

plant?

A. The batch plant, when we hras selJ-ing the water and

sending it back home to the poor people, --

A. Uh-huh.

A. split between his family members I mean his

family coul-d be 2, 000.

A. Riqht.

A. I don't mean his brothers and sister, no. Mine,

more or l-ess the same.

Then every year, they start to ask, Where's

the water money? f say, Mr. Hamed, look. We have to put an

end to this. V{hat do you think, we makinq our people Lazy?

They start to get free money. Vühy don't we try to give them

something to do? After al-l, you came with nothing. I came

with l-ess than nothing. We poor. Our parents is poor.

Very respectable parents, but they're poor. And no\^r we made

it. And you are a Muslim, and I am a Musl-im.

And Muslim reJ-igion have f j-ve pillar. The

Cheryl L. Haase
(340) 713-8761
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F feyCite Red Flag - Severe Negative Treatlnent

Affirmed in Part, Vacated in Part by Yusuf v. Hamed, V.I., September 30,2013

2013 WL 18465o6 (V.I.Super.)
Superior Court of the Virgin Islands,

Division of St. Croix.

Mohammed HAMED, by his authorized agent Waleecl Hamed, Plaintift,
v

Fathi YUSUF and United Corporation, Defendants

CryIL NO. SX-r2-c'r-STo
I

April 25,2org

ACTION FOR DAMAGES; PRELIMINARY AND PERMANENT INJUNCTION;
DECLARATORY RELIEF
ruRY TRIAL DEMANDED

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Douglas A. Brady, Judge of the Superior Court

*1 **119 THIS MATTER is before the Court on Plaintiffs Emergency Motion and

Memorandum to Renew Application for TRO ("Renewed Motion"), *x120 filed January 9,2013,
renewing his September 18, 2}I2Motion for a Temporary Restraining Order andlor a Preliminary
Injunction. Hearing on the Renewed Motion was held on January 25,2013 and continued on
January 3I,2013. Having reviewed the Renewed Motion, evidence and argument of counsel

presented at the hearing, along with the voluminous filings of the parties in support of and

in opposition to the Renewed Motion, this matter has been converted to that of a Preliminary
Injunction pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 65(a). Upon review of the record, the Court herein makes

findingsoffactandconclusionsoflaw,pursuanttoFed.R.Civ.P.52(a)(2),andGRANTSPlaintiffs
Renewed Motion.

ruRISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 4 V.I.Code $ 76(a), which grants the
Superior Court "original jurisdiction in all civil actions regardless of the amount in controversy."

1WESTTAW @ 2016 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works
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Likewise, under 5 V.I.Code $ 1261, courts of record are empowered to "declare rights, status,

and other legal relations whether or not further relief is or could be claimed.... The declaration
may be either affirmative or negative in form and effect; and such declarations shall have the
force and effect of a final judgment or decree," A request for injunctive relief is addressed to the
sound discretion of the Court. Shire U.S. Inc. v. Barr Laboratories, Inc., 329 F.3d 348,352 (3d

Cir.2003). This Court may grant equitable (i.e. injunctive) relief as Plaintiff seeks in his Renewed

Motion to enforce a partner's rights regarding partnership profits and management and conduct of
the partnership business pursuantto 26 V.I.Code $ 75(b).

STANDARD

The Court must consider four factors when reviewing a motion for preliminary injunction: (1)

whether the movant has shown a reasonable probability of success on the merits; (2) whether the
movant will be irreparably injured by the denial of the relief; (3) whether granting preliminary
relief will result in even greater harm to the nonmoving party; and (4) whether granting the
preliminary relief will be in the public interest. Petrus v. Queen Charlotte Hotel Corp.56 V.I. 548,

554 (2012), citing lles v. de Jongh, 55 V.I. 1251, 1256 (3d Cir.2011), (quoting McTernan v. City
of New York, 577 F.3d 521,526 (3d Cir.2009)).

**I2I STATEMENT OF ISSUES

By his Verified Complaint, Plaintiff alleges that Defendants, acting personally and through
authorized agents, committed several unilateral acts in contravention of the partnership

relationship between Plaintiff and Defendant Fathi Yusuf ("Yusuf') and established

understandings and agreements among the parties. Plaintiff avers that those acts threaten the

businesses and his interests in the businesses established by the partnership as a result of those

agreements. Accordingly, Plaintiff demands injunctive and declaratory relief to determine the
status of the parties'relationships and the framework under which they must conduct their business

operations in light of those relationships. Upon review of the parties' case and controversy,
submissions and presented evidence, the Court makes the following findings of fact.

FINDINGS OF FACT

t<2 1. Plaintiff and Defendant Yusuf have a longstanding friendship and familial history which
preceded their business relationship. January 25, 2013 Evidentiary Hearing Transcript, at 196-
l9B, hercinafter Tr. 196-198, Jan. 25, 2013.

2WESTLAW O 2016 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works
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2.ln 1979, Fathi Yusuf incorporated United Corporation ("United") in the U.S. Virgin Islands.

Defendants' Evidentiary Hearing Exhibit, no. 7, hereinafter Def, Ex. 7.

3. United subsequently began construction on a shopping center located at Estate Sion Farm,
St. Croix. Thereafter, Defendant Yusuf desired and made plans to build a supeffnarket within
the shopping center. Plaintiffs Evidentiary Hearing Exhibit, no. I (Transcript, February 2,

2000 Oral Deposition of Fathi Yusuf: Idheileh v. United Corp. and Yusuf, Case No. I56/1997,
Territorial Court of the Virgin Islands, Div. St. Thomas and St. John), at 8, lines I-14;
hereinafter Pt.Ex. l, p. 8.1-14.r

1 m" Court has taken judicial notice of the certified copy of the deposition transcript in the noted Territorial Court action, submitted

as Pl. Ex. l. See discussionatTr. 6-9, Jan. 25, 2013.

4. Subsequently, Yusuf encountered financial difficulty in completing construction ofthe shopping
center and opening the supermarket, was unable to procure sufficient bank loans, and told
Plaintiff Mohammad Hamed ("Hamed") that he was unable to finance the **122 completion
of the project. At Yusuf s request, Hamed provided funding to Yusuf s project from proceeds

of Hamed's grocerybusiness. PLEn l, p. 14:4-15:14.

5. Hamed provided Yusuf with monies to facilitate completion of construction on the shopping

center and to facilitate opening thePlaza Extra supermarket in Estate Sion Farm, St. Croix.
Tr. 197:5-199:13, Jan. 25, 2013.

6. Upon Yusuf s request, Hamed sold his two grocery stores to work exclusively as a part of
Plaza Extra. Tr. 200:4-15. Jan. 25, 2013.

7. Hamed contributed to Yusuf s project funds as they were available to him, including the entire
proceeds from the sale of his two grocery stores, with the agreement that he and Yusuf would
each be a 50Yo partner in the Plaza Extra Supermarket, "in the winning or loss." Tr.200: 16-
23, Jan. 25, 2013.

8. Hamed initially became a25o/o partner of Yusuf, along with Yusuf s two nephews who each

also had a 25o/o interest in the Plaza Extra Supermarket business . Pl. Ex. I , p. I 5:2-14.

9. Yusuf sought additional bank financing to complete the construction of the building for the
Plaza Extra business, which loan application was eventually denied, as a result of which
Yusuf s two nephews requested to have their funds returned and to leave the partnership. P/.

Ex. I, p. I7:6-24.

10. With the withdrawal of Yusuf s nephews, the two remaining partners of the Plaza Extra
Supermarket business were Hamed and Yusuf. Notwithstanding the financing problems,

aWESTLAW @ 2016 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.
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Hamed determined to remain with the business, having contributed a total of $400,000 in
exchange for a 50%o ownership interest in the business. Pl.Ex. I , p. I7:24-19: I0.

11. Yusuf and Hamed were the only partners inPlaza Extra by the time in 1986 when the
supermarket opened for business and Hamed has remained a partner since that time. Pl.Ex.

2g.2

Subsequent to the evidentiary hearing but before the parties submitted their post-hearing briefs, Plaintiff on February I 9, 20 1 3 filed
his Second Request to Take Judicial Notice and Request to Supplement the Hearing Record, presenting proposed Plaintiffs Exhibits
28,29 and 30. By separate Order of this date, Plaintiffs Request was granted. Exhibit 28 is comprised of selected Defendants'

Responses to Plaintiffs Second Set of Interrogatories to Defendants in that matter known as Idheileh v. United Corp. and Yusuf, Case

No. 156/1997, Territorial Court ofthe Virgin Islands, Div. St. Thomas and St. John

*3 **123 12. As apartnü in the PlazaExtra Supermarket business, Hamed was entitled to fifty
(50%) percent of the profit and liable for fifty (50%) of the "payable" as well as loss of his
contribution to the initial start-up funds. Tr.44:12-21; 200:16-23; 206:23-25, Jan. 25, 2013;
Pl. Ex. I, p. I8:16-23; p.23:18-25.

13. Yusuf and Hamed have both acknowledged their business relationship as a partnership of
an indefinite term. Pl.Ex. I, p. 18: 18-23 ("I'm obligated to be your partner as long as you
want me to be your partner until we lose $800,000."); Tr. 210:4-8, Jan. 25, 2013 (Q: "How
long is your partnership with Mr. Yusuf supposed to last? When does it end?" A: "Forever.
We start with Mr. Yusuf with the supermarket and'we make money. He make money and I
make money, we stay together forever.")

14. Yusuf testified in the ldheileh case that it was general public knowledge that Yusuf was

a business partner with Hamed even before thePlaza Extra supermarket opened. Pl. Ex. I,
p.20:10-12.

15. Yusuf has admitted in this case that he and Hamed "entered into an oral joint venture
agreement" in 1986 by which Hamed provided a"loan" of $225,000 and a cash payment of
$ 175,000 in exchange for which "Hamed [was] to receive fifty percent (50%) of the net profits
of the operations of the PlazaExtra supermarkets" in addition to the "loan" repayment. Yusuf
states that the parties' agreement provided for "a 50/50 split of the profits of the Plaza Extra
Supermarket stores." Pl.Ex. 2, p.3, 4.lndeed, Yusuf confirms that "ft]here is no disagreement

that Mr. Hamed is entitled to fifty percent (50%) of the profits of the operations of Plaza
Extra Store....The issue here again is not whether Plaintiff Hamed is entitled to 50%o of the
profits. He is." Pl.Ex. 3, p. ll.

16. In 1992-1993, a second Plaza Extra supermarket was opened on the island of St. Thomas,

USVI, initially with a third "partner," Ahmad ldheileh, who later withdrew leaving a"50150"
ownershipinterestintheSt.ThomasPlazaExtrabetweenYusufandHamed. Tr.27:l-28:14,
Jan. 25, 2013.

4WESTLAW @ 2016 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.
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x*124 17. At present, there are threePlaza Extra Supermarkets which employ approximately
six hundred people on St. Croix and St. Thomas. Tr. 238:4-6, Jan. 25, 2013.

18. In the ldheilehlitigation, Yusuf provided an affidavit wherein he stated that "[m]y brother
in law, Mohamed Hamed, and I have been full partners in the Plaza Extra Supermarket since

1984 while we were obtaining financing and constructing the store, which finally opened in

1986." Pl.Ex. t, Affidavit of Fathi Yusuf Deposition Ex. 63 ,

3 et the conclusion ofthe second day ofthe hearing, counsel agreed to supplement the record to include exhibits to Plaintiffs Exhibit
I, the February 2,2000 deposition of Fathi Yusuf. ?'r. 129-130, Jan. 31,2013. Deposition Exhibits 6 andT were provided with
Plaintiffs Notice of Filing Supplemental Deposition Exhibits, filed February 19,2013.

19. Hamed and Yusuf have jointly managed the stores by having one member of the Hamed family
and one member of the Yusuf family co-manage each of the three Plaza Extra Supermarkets.

Originally, Hamed and Yusuf personally managed the first Plaza Extra store, with Hamed in
charge of receiving, the warehouse and produce, and Yusuf takingcare of the office. Tr. 26: I I-
I9; 206:20-22, Jan. 25, 2013. Yusufs management and control of the "office" was such that

Hamed was completely removed from the financial aspects of the business, concerning which
Hamed testified "I'm not sign no thing.... Fathi is the one, he sign. Mr. Yusuf the one he sign

the loan, the first one and the second one." Tr. 207:16-21, Jan. 25, 2013.

x4 20. During recent years, in every store there is, at least, one Yusuf and one Hamed who
co-manage all aspects of the operations of each store. Mafeed Hamed and Yusuf Yusuf have

managed the Estate Sion Farm store along with Waleed Hamed. Waleed Hamed, Fathi Yusuf
and Nejah Yusuf operate the St. Thomas store, and Hisham Hamed and Mahar Yusuf manage

thePlaza V/est store on St. Croix. Tr. 3I:6-35:II; 147:11-20; 160:10-22, Jan. 25,2013,
andTr. 33:6-17, Jan. 31,2013.

2I.In operating the "office," Yusuf did not clearly delineate the separation between United
"who owns United Shopping Plaza" andPlazaExtra, despite the fact that from the beginning
Yusuf intended to and did "hold the supermarket for my personal use." Pl.Ex. I, p. B: I-7.
**125 Despite the facts that the supermarket used the trade name "Plaza Extra" registered

to United (Pl.Ex. 4, n I4 ) and that the supermarket bank accounts are in the name of United
(Pl. Ex's. 15, I6 ), "in talking about Plaza Extra... when it says United Corporation ... [i]t's
really meant me fYusuf] and Mr. Mohammed Hamed." Pl.Ex. I, p. 69:13-2L

22. Yusuf admitted in the Idheileh action that Plaza Extra was a distinct entity from United,
although the "partners operated PlazaExtra under the corporate name of United Corp." Pl.Ex.
28, Response to Interrogatory 6.

23.The distinction between United and the PlazaExtra Supermarkets is also apparent from the

faú that United, as o\ryner of United Shopping Center, has sent rent notices to Hamed on

5WESTLAW O 2016 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.
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behalf of the Sion Farm PlazaExtra Supermarket, and the supermarket has paid to United the

rents charged. Pl. Ex's. 7, 8, 9 ; Tr. 48 : 24-5 I :9 ; 2 I 2 : I 8-2 I 4 : I 5, Jan. 2 5, 20 I 3.

24.In2003, United was indicted for tax evasion in federal court, along with Yusuf and several

other members of the Hamed and Yusuf families in that matter in the District Court of the
Virgin Islands, Division of St. Croix, known as United States and Government of the Virgin
Islands v. Fathi Yusuf et al., Crim. No.2005-15 ("the Criminal Actionl'). However, Plaintiff
Mohammed Hamed was not indicted. Tr. 2 2 2 : I I -2 2 3 : 6 ; I 3 4 : I 5-2 3, Jan. 2 5, 2 0 I 3.

25.In connection with the Criminal Action, the federal government appointed a receiver in 2003

to oversee thePlazaExtra Supermarkets, who deposits all profits into investment accounts at

Banco Popular Securities and, originally, at Menill-Lynch. Those "profits" accounts remain
atBancoPopularSecuritiestothepresent. Tr.4I:15-42:18; 137:13-138:19,Jan.25,2013.

26.In2011, United pled guilty to tax evasion in the Criminal Action. Charges were dismissed

against the other Defendants, by Plea Agreement filed February 26,2011. Def. Ex. 2, p.2.

27 . The Criminal Action against United remains pending, as the terms of the Plea Agreement
require "complete and accurate" tax filings. United has filed no tax returns since 2002,
although estimated taxes have been paid from the grocery store accounts, and mandatory
accounting x*126 procedures forPlaza Extra have been adopted. Tr. 241:23-245:12, Jan.

25, 2013; Tr. 90:4-16, Jan. 31, 2013; Def. Ex. 2.

28. At some point between late 2009 and 2011, at Yusufs suggestion, the Hamed and Yusuf
families agreed that all checks drawn onPlaza Extra Supermarket accounts had to be signed

by one member of the Hamed family and one member of the Yusuf family. Tr. I00: I I-16,
228:2-l I, Jan. 25, 2013.

29. In late 2011, United had its newly retained accountant review a hard drive containing
voluminous financial records related to the Criminal Action, following which Yusuf accused

members of the Hamed family of stealing money from the supermarket business and

threatening to close the store and to terminate the United Shopping Plaza lease. Tr. 52:5-10,
Jan.3I, 2013; Tr. 5I:18-52:8, Jan. 25, 2013.

*5 30. Thereafter, discussions commenced initiated by Yusufs counsel regarding the
"Dissolution of Partnership." Pl.Ex. 10, lI, 12. On March 13,2012, through counsel,

Yusuf sent a Proposed Partnership Dissolution Agreement to Hamed, which described the
history and context of the parties' relationship, including the formation of an oral partnership

agreement to operate the supermarkets, by which they shared profits and losses. Pt.Ex. I2.4
Settlement discussions followed those communications but have not to date resulted in an

agreement. Tr. 5B: I5-20, Jan. 25, 2013.

oWESTTAW @ 2016 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.
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These exhibits were admitted at hearing over Defendants' objection premised on Fed.R.Evid. 408. The evidence vr'as not offered to
prove the validity or amount of Plaintiffs claims, but rather to put into context the history of the parties' relationship which may be

accepted as evidence for another purpose under R. 408(b). Further, the exhibits offer nothing beyond evidence presented wherein

Yusuf has similarly characterized the history of his relationship with Plaintiff.

3 I . Although Plaintiff retired from the day-to-day operation of the supeflnarket business in about

1996, Waleed Hamed has acted on his behalf pursuant to two powers of attorney from Plaintiff.
Tr.45:24-48:2; 172:6-173:8; 202:18-25, Jan. 25,2013; Pl.Ex. l, Affidavit of Fathi Yusuf,

Depos. Exh. 6, fl 4. Both Plaintiff and Yusuf have designated their respective sons to represent

their interests in the operation and management of the threePlaza Extra stores. Tr. 3I:6-35: I I,
Jan. 25, 2013.

*x127 32.It had been the custom and practice of the Yusuf and Hamed families to withdraw
funds from the supermarket accounts for their own pu{poses and use (see Def, Ex. l; PLEx
27 ),however such withdrawals were always made with the knowledge and consent of the

otherpartner. Tr. 138:20-139:8, Jan. 25,2013; Tr. l2I:3-123:9, Jan.3I,20I3.

33. Waleed Hamed testified that Fathi Yusuf utilized Plaza Extra account funds to purchase

and subsequently sell property in Estate Dorothea, St. Thomas, to which it was agreed that
Hamed was entitledto 50yo of net proceeds. Although Yusuf s handwritten accounting of sale

proceeds confirms that Hamed is due $802,966, representing 50% of net proceeds (Pl. Ex. I8
), that payment has never been made to Hamed and the disposition of those sale proceeds is

not known to Hamed. Tr.88:B-90:17, Jan. 25, 2013.

34. Each of the three Plaza Extra Supermarkets maintains and accounts for its operations

separately, with separate bank accounts. In total, the stores maintain a total of approximately
eleven accounts. Tr. 35:12-20; 36:22-38:25; 229:10-13, Jan. 25, 2013.

35. On or about August 15,2012, Yusuf wrote a check signed by himself and his son Mahar
Yusuf andmadepaymenttoUnitedintheamount of $2,784,706.25 fromasegregatedPlaza
Extra Supermarket operating account, despite written objection of \ù/aleed Hamed on behalf
of Plaintiff and the Hamed family, who claimed that, among other objections, the unilateral
withdrawal violated the terms of the District Court's restraining order in the Criminal Action.
Tr. 246:l-250:14, Jan. 25,2013; Pl. Group Ex. 13.

36. On the first hearing day, Mahar Yusuf, President of United Corporation testif,red under oath

that he used the 82,784,706.25 withdrawn from thePlaza Extra operating account to buy
three properties on St. Croix in the name of United. On the second hearing day, Mahar Yusuf
contradicted his prior testimony and admitted that those withdrawn funds had actually been

used to invest in businesses not owned by United, including a mattress business, but that none

of the funds were used to purchase properties overseas, Tr. 250:2-25 I : I5, Jan. 25, 2013; Tr.

l lB: 1 2-1 20: 2, Jan. 3 1, 201 3.

7WESTLAW O 2016 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works
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*6 37. A restraining order was entered by the District Court in the Criminal Action which
remains in place and restricts withdrawal of funds **128 representing profits from the

supermarkets that have been set aside in the Banco Popular Securities brokerage account
pending the conclusion of the Criminal Action or further order of that Court. Tr. 4I : 15-
42:18; I19:4-12, Jan. 25, 2013. The Criminal Action will remain pending until past tax
returns are filed. Tr. 134:15-136:22; 242:16-245:5, Jan. 25,2013. As of January 18,2013,
the brokerage account had a balance of $43,914,260.04. Def, 8x.9. This Court cannot enforce

the restraining order or otherwise control any aspect of the Criminal Action or its disposition.

38. Funds from supermarket accounts have also been utilized unilaterally by Yusuf, without
agreement of Hamed, to pay legal fees of defendants relative to this action and the Criminal
Action, in excess of $145,000 to the dates of the evidentiary hearing. Tr. 76:5-82:9, Jan. 25,

2013; Pl. Ex. 'l5, I6.s
5 plaintiffhas submitted Exhibit 30 with his February 19,2013 Second Request to Take Judicial Notice and Request to Supplement

the Hearing Record, granted by separate Order. Defendants'opposition to Plaintiffs'Motion did not address Exhibit 30, consisting of
two checks in the total sum ofmore than $220,000 in payment to defense counsel in this action, dated January 2l,2013 and February

13,2013, drawn on a supermarket account by Defendants without Plaintiffs'consent. Although the evidence is cumulative and not

essential to the Court's decision herein, it reflects an ongoing practice of unilateral withdrawals and the possibility of continuing

unilateral action in the future.

39. Since at least late2012, Yusuf has threatened to fire Hamed family managers and to close the

supermarkets. Tr. 149:20-150:22; 158:IB-159:12; 253:25-254:19, Jøn. 25, 2013.

40. On January 8, 2013, Yusuf confronted and unilaterally terminated 15 year accounting

employee V/adda Chaniez for perceived irregularities relative to her timekeeping records of
her hours of employment, threatening to report her stealing if she challenged the firing or
sought unemployment benefits at Department of Labor, Tr. IBI:20-185:16, Jan. 25, 2013.

Chaniez had a "very critical job" with Plaza Extra (Tr 179:17-19, Jan. 25, 2013), and the

independent accountant retained by Yusuf agreed that she was "a very good worker" and

that her work was "excellent." Tr. 94:2-6, Jan. 3 I , 20I 3. Because the Hamed co-managers

had not been consulted concerning the termination or shown any proof of the employee's

improper activíty,Mafeed Hamed instructed Chaniezto return to **129 work the following
day. Tr. 179:4-24; 185:17-186:8, Jan. 25, 2013. On Charriez'January 9,2013 return to
work, Yusuf started screaming at her, and told her to leave or he would call the police.

Tr. IB6:9-L87:1, Jan. 25, 2013. Yusuf did call police and demanded on their arrival that

Chaniez, and Mufeed Hamed and Waleed Hamed be removed from the store, and threatened

to close the store. Tr. 93:5-94: I5; 164: I9-165: I8: I87:5-188:8, Jan. 25, 2013. The incident

that occurred on January 9,2013, the same day that Plaintiffs Renewed Motion was filed,
coupled with other evidence presented demonstrates that there has been a breakdown in
the co-management structure of the Plaza Extra Supermarkets. Tr. l4l:25-142: I8;143: I7-
146: I9; 166:21-167:8, Jan. 25, 2013.
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4I. "By the time PIaza Extra opened in 1986, Mohamed Hamed and Defendant Yusuf were the

only partners. These partners operated PlazaExtra under the corporate name of United Corp."
Pl.Ex. 28, Response to Interrogatory ó. Defendants now claim that Yusuf is the owner of only
7.5Yo of the shares of United (Pl.Ex. 2, p. I I ), which could adversely affect Plaintiffs ability
to enforce his claims as to the partnership "operated [as] Plaza Extra under the corporate
name of United Corp."

DISCUSSION

*7 Although this matter is before the Court on Plaintiffs Renewed Motion that seeks a temporary
restraining order, the parties agree that following the full evidentiary hearing conducted, the relief
Plaintiff seeks is a preliminary injunction pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 65(a). The Court cannot issue

a preliminary injunction unless on the basis of the evidence on the record, Plaintiff prevails as to
each of the four factors recently delineated by the Virgin Islands Supreme Court in Petrus, namely:
(1) the movant has shown a reasonable probability of success on the merits; (2) the movant will be

irreparably injured by the denial of the relief; (3) granting preliminary relief will not result in even
greater harm to the nonmoving party; and (4) granting the preliminary relief will be in the public
interest. 56 V.I. at 554. Only if the movant produces evidence sufficient to convince the Court
that all four factors favor preliminary relief should the injunction issue. Opticians Association of
America v. Independent Opticians of America, 920 F.2d 187 , I92 (3d Cir.1990).

**130 The evidentiary record before the Court includes the testimony of witnesses and

documentary exhibits. Those exhibits include prior filings of the parties in this case by which
the parties are bound by virtue of the doctrine of judicial admissions . Berckley Inv. Group, Ltd.
V. Colkitt, 455 F.3d l95,2ll n. 20 (3d Cir.2006); Partita v. IAP Worldwide Serv., VI, Inc., 368
F.3d269,275 (3dCir2004). Those exhibits also include filings in prior unrelated cases, which are

admissible as admissions of such party against its interest, pursuant to Fed.R.Evid. 801(d).6

6 On April 7,2OlO,Act No. 716l became law, section 15 of which established the Federal Rules of Evidence as applicable in this

Court. See, Chinnery v. People,55 V.I. 508, 525 (2011).

The Court will consider the four factors required for the issuance of a preliminary injunction in
seriatim, and makes the following conclusions of law.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Probability of Movant's Success on the Merits.
l. Plaintiff seeks to establish that his business relationship with Yusuf of more than 25 years

constitutes a Virgin Islands partnership, notwithstanding the lack of any written partnership
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agreement and the failure of the business to file Virgin Islands partnership tax returns or to
provide K-l forms to report partners' distributive share of income, among other factors urged by
Defendants. Whether the relationship will be characterized as a partnership is governed by the
Uniform Partnership Act ("[JPA"), adopted in 1998 as Title 26, Chapter 1 of the Virgin Islands
Code.

2.Under the UPA, "the association of two or more persons to carry on as co-owners a business for
profit forms a partnership, whether or not the persons intend to form a partnership." 26 V.I.Code

Ç 22(a).In the mid-1980's when the Hamed-Yusuf business relationship began, a Virgin Islands
partnership was defined as "an association of two or more persons to carcy on as co-owners a

business for profit." Former 26 V.I.Code $ 21(a).

3. Under the UPA, "A person who receives a share of the proflrts of a business is presumed to
be a partner in the business ..." 26 V.I.Code $ 22(cX3). Under the former Code provisions, "the
receipt by a person of **131 a share of the profits of a business is prima facie evidence that he

is a partner in the business ..." Former 26 V.I.Cod e $ 22(4).7

7 'f¡" Court applies the test in effect at the time the business relationship between the parties was formed (see Harrison v. Bornn,

Borrm & Handy,200 F.R.D. 509, 514 (D.V.I.2001)), and holds that a partnership is found to exist by the admitted sharing of profits
ofthe business unless Defendants' evidence is suffìcient to rebut thal primafacie evidence. However, the distinction between the

language in the former statute and the current is of no legal significance. Commentary of the National Conference of Commissioners

ofUniform State Laws on the publication ofthe I 997 ofthe UPA notes that "no substantive change is intended. The sharing ofprofrts
is recast as a rebuttable presumption of a partnership, a more contemporary construction, rather than as prima facie evidence thereof."

Formation of Partnership, Unif, Partnership Act g 202, cmt.3 (1997).

*8 4. Evidence of "a fixed profit-sharing arrangement" and "evidence of business operation" are

factors to be considered in the determination of whether the parties in a business relationship had

formed a partnership. Ad die v. Kjaer, Civ. No.2004-135,2011 WL 797402, at 3* (D.V.I. Mar.
r,20tt).

5. "A partnership agreement is defined as the agreement, whether written, oral, or implied, among
the partners concerning the partnership, including amendments to the partnership agreement."
26 Y.I.Code $ 2(7), emphasis added. A "partnership at will" exists where the partners have not
agreed to remain partners until the expiration of a definite term or the completion of a particular
undertaking." 26 V.I.Code $ 2(8).

6. Defendants protest that there is no written partnership agreement to memorialize the
understanding between Yusuf and Hamed. However, as noted, the UPA does not require that such

agreements be memorialized by a writing, and further sanctions "at will" agreements that have
no definite term or duration, and are subject to dissolution by either partner at any time. As such,
partnerships are not within the statute of frauds and need not be in writing. Smith v. Robinson, 44
V.L 56, 61 (Ten.Ct.2001).
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7. Even if the statute of frauds were applicable to the formation of a partnership, the doctrine of
part performance operates to prevent an inequity where a person is induced or permitted to invest
time, money and labor in reliance upon an oral agreement, which agreement would otherwise be

voided by the application of the stature of frauds. Accordingly, if a party can show that part of an

oral agreement was performed, the oral contract is taken out of the statute of frauds and becomes

binding. Sylvester v. Frydenhoj Estates Corp., 47 V.1.720,724 (D.V.I.2006), citations omitted.

xxl32 8. Defendants suggest that Hamed and Yusuf entered into a joint venture rather than a
partnership. A joint venture has been defined as a partnership for a single transaction, recognized

as a subspecies of partnership, and is analyzedunder Virgin Islands law in the same manner as is a
partnership. Boudreax v. Sandstone Group,36 V.I. 86,97 (Ten.Ct.1997), citíng Fountain Valley
Corp. v. Wells,l9 V.I. 607 (D.V.I.1983).

9. Yusuf and Hamed, acting under the name "United Corporation," entered into their relationship
with Ahmad Idheileh "to open and operate a supennarket on St. Thomas" by means of a Joint
Venture Agreement. Pl.Ex. 1, Dep. Ex. 7. This "business relationship created by agreement of
the parties for the purpose of profit" was formed "for a single undertaking or transaction," and

was to "terminate at the conclusion of their stated pu{pose, by agreement, or at the will of the
parties." c & c Manhattanv. Gov't of the l/.L,46v.L 377,384 (D.V.I.2004), citations omitted.
To the contrary, the self-described "partnership" of Hamed and Yusuf, formed for profit, with no

set duration, involved the development of a business enterprise, including the three supermarkets

and other business projects spanning two and a half decades.

10. The Court concludes that Defendants' recent claims that the parties have been engaged in a
joint venture and not a partnership are not credible as they contradict the record before the Court
and the long history prior to this litigation of admissions by Yusuf, who did not testify at the

hearing, to the effect that he and Hamed are "50/50" partners. Those pre-litigation admissions of
the existence of a partnership have been consistent over many years, including through his notice
to Hamed of his dissolution of their partnership in the months prior to this litigation.

*9 I 1. Defendants argue that Defendant United has owned and operated the businesses known
asPlaza Extra, and that Hamed's claims must fail because he concedes that he has no ownership
interest in United. To the contrary, the record clearly reflects that Yusufs use of thePlaza Extra

trade name registered to United, the use bank accounts in United's name to handle the finances

of the three supermarkets and other participation of the corporate entity in the operation of the

stores was all set up in the context of Yusuf s partnership with Hamed, as Yusuf has consistently
admitted. The existence of a partnership is not negated by the use of the corporate form to conduct
various operations of the partnership. **133 McDonald v. McDonald, 192 N.V/.2d 903, 908

(Wis .1972). The fact that the partner conducting the business utilizes a corporate form does not
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change the essential nature of the relationship of the parties. Granik v. Perry, 4I8 F .2d 832. 836
(5th Cir.1969).

12. Where, as here, the parties agree that one partner is designated to take charge of "the off,rce" and

assumes the responsibility for obtaining or filing the relevant documents as a part of his share of
the partnership responsibilities, his failure to file that documentation in the name of the partnership

does not mean that no partnership exists. Partners may apportion their duties with respect to the

management and control of the partnership such that one partner is given a greater share in the

management than others. Thus, the fact that one partner may be given a greater day-to-day role in
the management and control of a business than another partner does not defeat the existence of the

partnership itself. Al-Yassin v. Al-Yassin, 2004 WL 625757, *7 (Cal.Ct.App.2004). Where one

party actively pursues the partnership business, such business must be conducted in keeping with
"fundamental characteristics of trust, fairness, honesty, and good faith that define the essence ofthe
partners' relationship." Alpart v. Gen. Land Partners [nc.,574 F.Supp .2d 491,500 (E.D.Pa.2008).

1 3. It is undisputed that Plaintiff and Yusuf agreed from the time prior to the opening of the first
store to share profits from the business on a 50/50 basis and that they did so share profits. These

elements of their business relationship present aprimafacie case for the existence of a partnership

under the former 26 V.I.Code $ 22(4), applicable at the time of the formation of the partnership.

Defendants have not presented evidence sufficient to overcome Plaintiff s primafacie proof of the

partnership of the parties. s

8 fn. analysis and the result are the same ifthe evidence is determined to give rise to the presumption ofthe existence ofa partnership

of the parties under the current 26 V.I.Code $ 22(cX3), the Virgin Islands UPA. Defendants' proofs are insuffrcient to rebut the

presumption ofthe existence of a partnership.

14. Various other indicia of the existence of the formation of a partnership are present in the record,
including the fact that the parties intended to and did associate with each other carry on as co-

o\ryners a business for profit (26 V.I.Code $ 22(a)). The parties agreed to share the net profits of
the business "50/50" (26Y.LCode $ 22(c)(3)). Each of the parties contributed money and services

to commence the business **134 operation. The parties agreed that their relationship would
continue without any definite term. The parties jointly shared the risks of the business and agreed

to equally share any losses of the business. By dividing the initial management of the business

between the warehouse, receiving and produce (Hamed) and the office (Yusuf), the parties jointly
managed the business. As years passed and additional stores opened, joint management continued
with the sons of each of the parties co-managing all aspects of each of the stores.

15. On the basis of the record before the Court and the foregoing, Plaintiff has demonstrated a
reasonable probability that he will succeed on the merits of his claim as to the existence of a

partnership between himself and Yusuf with regard to the threePlaza Extra stores.
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Irreparable injury to Movant by denial of relief.
*10 16. As the Court finds that there is a reasonable probability of Plaintiffs success in proving

the existence of a partnership, he is entitled to the benefits of his status as a partner, including"an
equal share of the partnership profits" and "equal rights in the management and conduct of the

partnership business." 26 V.LCode $ 71(b) and (f).

17. Plaintiff maintains this action seeking equitable relief, and this Court may grant such equitable
(i.e. injunctive) relief to enforce Plaintiff/partner's rights to an equal share of the partnership profits
and equal rights in the management and conduct of the partnership, pursuant to 26 V.I.Code $

7s(bxl) and (2)(i).

18. Yusuf forcefully contends that this case is solely about money damages, and any damage to

Plaintiff is economic damage only, which can be remedied by an award of monetary damages.

"[A] preliminary injunction should not be granted if the injury suffered by the moving party can be

recouped in monetary damages ." IDT Telecom, Inc. v CVT Prepaid Solutions, 1nc.,250 Fed. App*.
476,479 (3d Cir.2007), citations omitted. Although the alleged diversion of more than $3,000,000

constitutes a primary focus of Plaintiff s claims for relief, he also seeks to remedy what he alleges

to be usurpation by Yusuf of his "equal rights in the management and conduct of the partnership."

19. To establish irreparable harm, Plaintiff must show that his legal remedies (i.e. the potential

award of a money judgment) are inadequate. If the plaintiff suffers a substantial injury that cannot

be **135 accurately measurable or adequately compensable by an award of money damages,

irreparable harm may be found. Ross-Simonsof Warwick, Inc. v. Baccara[ 102 F.3d 12, 18-19
(1st Cir.1996). An award of monetary damages may not provide an adequate remedy where the

amount of monetary loss alleged is not capable of ascertainment. Instant Air Freight Co. v. C.F.

Air Freight, fnc.,882 F.2d 7g7,80I (3d Cir.1989). e Further, injunctive relief may be available

where the movant can "demonstrate that there exists some cognizable danger ofrecurrent violation
of its legal rights." Andersonv. Davila, 125 F.3d 148, 164 (3d Cir.I997), quoting United States

v. W.T. Grant Co., 345 U.S. 629, 633 (1953), internal quotations omitted.

9 lWith regard to the August 2012 diversion of more than 52.7 million by Mahar Yusuf, president of United, to accounts inaccessible

to Plaintiff, a real concem exists that continuing diversions will not be traceable as the Plaza Extra store have had no system of
intemal controls in existence and, to date accounting for the businesses is not completed beyond June 201 2. (Testimony ofaccountant

John Gafûrey, Tr. 71:20-72:3; 75:1 l-21, Jan. 31, 2013.) As such, the amount ofany monetary loss suffered by Plaintiffmay not

be capable of ascertainment.

20. Plaintiff alleges recurring violations ofhis legal rights to equal participation in the management

and conduct of the partnership business. In addition, Plaintiff claims that the diversion of
partnership revenues to accounts inaccessible to Plaintiff without accounting or explanation

constitutes a showing of irreparable harm because of the threat that similar diversions will occur
in the future and diverted funds may be removed from the jurisdiction of the Court rendering a
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monetary judgment ineffectual. See Health and Body Store, LLC v. JustBrand Limited,2012WL
4006041, at*4-5 (E.D.Pa. Sept. 11,2012).

*11 21. The record reflects that Yusuf has arbitrarily addressed employee issues, including
termination of a long-term high level employee and has threatened to close the stores. (See,

Findings of Fact, '1T 40). Evidence exists in the record to the effect that co-managers in Plaza
Extra East no longer speak with each other (Tr.I66:2I-I67:8, Jan. 25, 2013 ), that employees are

fearful for their jobs (?. I58:18-159:12, Jan. 25, 2013 ), and that the tensions between Yusuf
and the Hamed family have created a "hard situation" for employees (Zr. 187:5-188;8 ). Plaintiff
alleges that such circumstances that flow directly from his deprivation of equal participation in
management and control of the supermarkets reflect his loss of control of the reputation and

goodwill of the business which **136 constitute irreparable injury, not compensable by an award
of money damages. ,S & R Corp. v. Jiffy Lube Intern., Inc., 968 F.2d 371,378 (3d Cir.1992).

22. Defendant's actions have deprived Plaintiff of his rights to equal participation in the

management and conduct of the business. As such, the Court finds that Plaintiff has met his burden

of establishing irreparable injury if injunctive relief is not granted. 10

l0 Most troubling is the substance of Plaintiff s Motion to Supplement the Record, dated and filed April 23,2Ol3,after the Opinion

was largely completed. Therein, Waleed Hamed states that the Hamed family has been denied access to the supermarket accounts

and signature authorization to Hamed family members bas been revoked by the depository banks based upon instructions from

Yusuf. Deprivation ofaccess to bank accounts and signature authorization on bank accounts clearly constitute denial ofpartnership

management rights not compensable by an award of monetary damages.

The balance of harms favors the Movant
23. One of the goals of the preliminary injunction analysis is to maintain the status quo, defined
as "the last, peaceable, noncontested status of the parties." Opticians Association of America,
suprq, 920 F.zd at I97, citations omitted. For more than 25 years, the parties have been able

to equally maîage and control their very successful business enterprise. For reasons delineated

above, that Plaintiffs rights to equal management and control have been infringed upon by the

actions of Defendant. In considering the relief sought by Plaintiff, the Court must assure that

granting injunctive relief will not harm Defendants more than denying relief would harm Plaintiff.

24. The remedy sought and the relief to be imposed does not deprive Yusuf of his statutory
partnership rights to equal management and control of the business. Rather, it simply assures that
Hamed is not deprived of the same legal rights to which he is entitled. Neither party has the right
to exclude the other from any part of the business. Health and Body Store, LLC, supra,2012WL
400604I, at *5. The relief sought and granted to provide equal access to all aspects of the business

will not harm Defendants more than the denial of such relief harms Plaintiff.
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25. Neither party has sought and the Court has not considered the prospect of appointing a receiver
or bringing in any other outsider to insure that the joint management and control of the partnership

is **137 maintained. Rather, notwithstanding the animosity that exists between the parties,

they are left to work out issues of equal management and control themselves as they have done

successfully over the years.

Public interest favors injunctive relief.
26. The public interest is best served by the continued success of Plaza Extra Supermarkets or,

in the alternative, by the orderly dissolution or winding down of the business relationship of the
parties pursuant to their own agreement. Enforcement of statutory rights of the partners is best

suited to accomplish that end.

*12 27 . The public interest is served by the continued employment of 600 Virgin Islanders and the

continuity of this Virgin Island institution operated according to law and their agreement. "It is not
only in the interest of [Plaintiffl that this court grant a preliminary injunction against fDefendants],
but it is in the public interest to ensure that the management of fPlaza Extra Supermarkets] be

properly maintained and the premises remain available for public use-they being an integral part
of the St. Croix economy." Kings Wharf Island Enterprises, Inc. v. Rehlaender,34V.I.23,29
(Terr.Ct.1996).

CONCLUSION

Injunctive relief is appropriate to preserve the status quo of the parties, their partnership and

business operations, by ensuring that the parties' statutory rights are preserved and enforced. The
Court's Order entering injunctive relief must state its terms specifically and describe in reasonable

detail the act or acts restrained. Caribbean Healthways, Inc. v. James,55 V.L 691,700 (20II),
quoting Fed.R.Civ.P. 65(dX1)(B) and (C).

Consistent with this Court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law a separate Order of even

date will accompany this Memorandum Opinion, directing the parties as follows:

1. The operations of the three Plaza Extra Supermarket stores shall continue as they have

throughout the years prior to this commencement of this litigation, with Hamed, or his
designated representative(s), and Yusuf, or his designated representative(s), jointly managing

each store, without unilateral action by either party, or representative(s), affecting the

management, employees, methods, procedures and operations.

**138 2. No funds will be disbursed from supermarket operating accounts without the mutual
consent of Hamed and Yusuf (or designated representative(s)).
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3. All checks from all Plaza Extra Supermarket operating accounts will require two signatures,
one of a designated representative of Hamed and the other of Yusuf or a designated
representative of Yusuf.

4. A copy of the Order accompanying this Opinion will be provided to the depository banks
where allPlazaExtra Supermarket operating accounts are held.

5. Plaintiff shall forthwith file a bond in the amount of Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars
($25,000.00) with the Clerk of the Court, and shall provide notice of the posting to
Defendants. (Plaintiffs interest in the "profrts" accounts of the business now held at Banco
Popular Securities shall serve as additional security to pay any costs and damages incurred
by Defendants if found to have been wrongfully enjoined.)

ORDER

The Court having issued its Memorandum Opinion of this date, it is hereby

ORDERED that Plaintiffs Emergency Motion to Renew Application for TRO, filed January 9,
2013, seeking entry of a temporary restraining order or, in the alternative, preliminary injunction
is GRANTED, as follows:

ORDERED that the operations of the three Plaza Extra Supermarket stores shall continue as

they have throughout the years prior to this commencement of this litigation, with Hamed, or his
designated representative(s), and Yusuf, or his designated representative(s), jointly managing each
store, without unilateral action by either party, or representative(s), affecting the management,
employees, methods, procedures and operations. It is further

ORDERED that no funds will be disbursed from supermarket operating accounts without the
mutual consent of Hamed and Yusuf (or designated representative(s)). It is further

ORDERED that all checks from all PlazaExtra Supermarket operating accounts will require two
signatures, one of a designated representative of Hamed and the other of Yusuf or a designated
representative of Yusuf. It is further

*13 ORDERED that a copy of this Order shall be provided to the depository banks where all
Plaza Extra Supermarket operating accounts are held. It is further

ORDERED that Plaintiff shall forthwith file a bond in the amount of Twenty-Five Thousand
Dollars ($25,000.00) with the Clerk of the Court, and shall provide notice of the posting to
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Defendants. (Plaintiff s interest in the o'profits" accounts of the business now held at Banco Popular
Securities shall serve as additional security to pay any costs and damages incurred by Defendants
if found to have been wrongfully enjoined.)

All Citations

2013 V/L 1846506,58 V.I. 117

End of Document @201ó Thornson Reuters. No clahn to original U.S. Gover¡rnent Works.
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IN TT.TD SUPERIOR COURT OF T}IB \/IIì.GIN ISLANDS
DIVISION OT ST. CIIOIX

t4 FIB i0 P:
I\{OHAMMAD I{.A,MDD, by his
authorized agent WALEED I{AMED,

crvrL No. sx-r2-cv-370
Plai¡rtiif/Counterclairn Dclèndant,

vs.

FATftI YUSUF n¡¡d UNII'BD CORPORÁTION,

Dcfendants/Corrnterclainr arrts,

vs.
.TURY TTTIAL T}EMAì{DED

WALEED HAMDD, WAI{EED I-[AMBD,
I\,IUFEED HAMED, I{ISHAI\{ HAMED, nnd
PLESSEN ENTERPRISBST

Additíonal Coun¡crclaim Defcndents. )
)
ì

DËFENDANTS' OPPOSITION
TO PLAINTIFF'S MOTION TO COMI'DL

DEtrENDANTS TO COMFLY
WTTH TI{E PRELMTNARY INJIJNCTION

I. Sutrn¿rnt'

Defendants F¿thi Yusr¡1" ("Yusuf') and Unitcd Corporution ("UnÍted") (collcctivcly, thc

''Defendants") havc full¡'cornplicd rvith this Court's Orderof Aplil 25,2013 gronting Plaintifl'

ivlolramed I'lanred ("|'larned") a prclirninary injunction (the "Prclinrinary lr{unctíon") relating to

the contínued operations of the three Plaza Extra Supermarkcts ("Plaza Extra Stores"). Likeu,ise,

Defendants have complicd rvith the clariling order entcrcd on N,lay 31.2013 ("Clari$ing

Ordcr"), rvhich rvas issucd in rcsponsc lo Defarckmtr' rcqucst lbr thc Court's guidance to ínsurc

proper conrpliance and to adclrcss spccilìc areas ol'conccrn.

)
)
)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

ACTION FOR DAMAGES,
INJUNC'ftVE RELIEF
AND DIICLARAI'I)RY RELIEF



Iltwel t'. lltsuf. et al, lz-CV..f 70
Dcfendunts' CJ¡posirion rn [¡lulnriff s lvlorion
'to Corrflcl Compli¡rncc rvi(lr thr¡ Prcliln¡nrry lnjufclir)n
lhgc t of l.l

e$ists no need for "live" access to the accounting sysfctns by cither l-lamecl, who is illiterate and

retired, or Waleed l"lan:ed, \vho is a rnanager, all¡eít an absentce manager, to perfonn any of his

responsibil¡t¡es in the daily operations of the Plnza Exfra Stores. llalher, allaccounting tasks l-gr

rvltíclt "rcal ti¡nc" access to lhe accounting systetn is nccdcd are acconrplishcd by Mr. Gaf fney

and tnembers of his staff, rvho have access as necded. Âlso loonring largc in this agreenrentto

tirnely provide all backup infbnnation was a fcur of providing "live'' ¿rceess to fìnancial

information 1o Walced l{anred, s4ro rvas o defendant in a nulnber of larvsuits alleging fìnancial

misconduct and embezzlenrent.

As a rcsult, thc parlies agrccd to a systent uúcrcby thc Sagc50 backup files wcrc

¡:rovided by John Galfhey (on Defcndants' belralf) to the Hanleds cach and av€r¡, ¡¡16¡¡¡'r, rvithout

faÍI. See Exhibit D af fl 4, 7. Such inlonnation is a lullantl cornpletc accounling of the financinl

operations and financinl data and records maintained for the Plaza llxtra Storcs. l-lence, il is

disingenuous for Hamed to fail to nrcntion tlris key tàct in his Motion. Rather, the parties did

con,fer rcgalding access to the Sage50 systonl and the pertinent in,fo¡'nration has been plovided to

Hamed cvery singlc month, Direcl and unrestricted "live" acccss is not required. Rather, only

"lnutlìal Bccess" is requircd. Givcn fhc parties' ag,resmenL and practice fÌ¡r thc last seven nrorrths,

the ¡isks to the operatíons associated rvitlr "livs" access to those other than the accounting

personnelarrd especially rvifh the concerns of financialnrisconduct by l-lamed's sons, tlte access

actually ¡:rovided is a¡:¡rropriatc aud, nlost ímportantly, in cornpliancc rvith thc Clarílying Ordcr.

If Hamed is contendirrg that hc was not in "agrccrncrrt" rvith this arrangerltent nnd,

(herelbre, had not reachecl an ngreenrent regarding access fo the Sage50 s¡,s¡srt, l'lamcd shoulcl

havc statcd so tnuch sooner. But to fail to acknowlcdgc lhat lre lws been receiving thc
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MTNUTES OF

THE ORGAIIIZATION MEETING

OF

V * -S Co.pora/lon r-Toe. .

/
The organlzatlon meeting of incorporators was held at

laut Ò#,¿s .f P"b.*¿ - H'n*
on Seprbrr&r 2é tg?4 at e ì't..

þ1",t /. #^f -a#aa,ey

Fo*r1¡ lusa/befng aII the fncorporators of. the cor¡roration.

7 o hrl / . K;n 7 was appoÍnred chairman of rhe
neetLng and l{aK¡rn^ ..9a. brn was appoínted secretary.

The eecretary then presented and read to the meeting
tlre waiver of notice of the meeting, subscribed by all the
persons named in the certlflcate of Íncorporation, and it
was ordered tl¡at it be appended to the ninutes of the meetÍng.

The secretary ttren presented and read to the meetÍng a
c9¡ly of the certlfLcate of f.ncorporation and reported that on
5epl. A, / ß9/ ttre orlginal thereof was filed in
tt¡e'bffice of the secritary of stãte of this state. The copy
of the certificate of tnèoiporatLon was ordered appended tõ
ttre ml.nutes of. the meeting.

Ihe follo ing were present
/o*, na 5../"-
ß; A+ So/e,-,

HAMD6Ol SBB
organizatLon 1



The secretary then presented assignments executed by
tÌ¡e st¡bscrib stockholders as fo1lov¡s:

t onr
as stated above are hereby approved and it is ordered that
tt¡e assignments as executed by the st¡bscrÍbing stockholders
be appended to tl¡e nl.nutes of tt¡is meetLng.

The
tLon of

tab':f tt¡en presented to mee ting the resÍ9na-

(l on e-

ae directors the corporatl,on.

that the resf.gnatlon of d lísted above
resignation'ls

a8
approved and accepted and the form

by .said dLrectors be appended to th e minutes.

/ooo
5ô6
,fo o

from

Corpo tvlìü,r+s
ls

CorP rvl¡oa

number
of shares

y*5 &rpotot'ut
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The secretary then presented a proposed form of by-laws
prepared by

3 o berl 
';nl:âA"d by.laws v¡ere readcounsel to the corporatlon.

to tJ¡e meeting, consLdered and upon motion duly made¡ sêc-
onded and carrf.ed¡ were adopted as and for the by-laws of
the corporation a¡rd ordered appended to the minutes of the
ueetl,ng.

The chairma¡¡ of tt¡e meeting then called for üre election
of officers of the corporation. The following persons were
nqinated to tåe office precetting theLr name:

president VqtÁr' /r"¿, f
rriss-prêsidenr ß; fa¡ ,So /ern

' secretary a

rreasure" > flo k"^ o S /e 'n

No furtl¡er nq¡inations being made the nominations were
closed and ttre dlrectors proceeded to vote on the nominees.
fhe ct¡alrman announced that the foregoing nominees were
elected to the offices set before thèir iespective names.

The secretarlt subnLtted to the neetÍng a seal proposed
for use ae the corporate sealr a epecimen stock certifícate
propoeed for uge as the corporate certificate for stock, the
corporate record book, anrd the stock transfer ledger. Upon
nptlon duly rnader seconôed and carried, it was

RESOLI'DD, that the
seal now presented at
tl¡is meetLng, an Írnpresslon
of ¡rhich Ls directed to
be made Ln tl¡e nl,nutes
of, thls ueêting, be ar¡d
ühe sâme hereby ls
adopted ae the sealof the corporation, a¡¡d
furtlrer

RESOI¡1IED1 that the specimen stock certificate presented
to tttis meeting be and hereby Ls adopted as the form of certí-
flcate of stock to be lssued to reþresent shares in the
corporatLon, and furtlrer

HAMD6O159O

organizatLon 3



RESOL\/ED, that the corporate record book, including ttle
stock transfer ledger, be and hereby is adopted as the record
book and stock transfer ledger of the corporation.

Upon motLon duly made, seconded and carried' it was

RESOI¡VED¡ that the treasurer of the corporation be and
hereby is authorized to pay all charges and expenses incident
to or arising out of the organizatf.on of the corporatíon and
to rel¡uburse any person who has made any disbursement therefor.

Upon rction, duly made¡ seconded and carried¡ it was

RESOI¡\¡EDr ttrat an office of the corporation be estab-
lished a¡rd naLntained aË
in the City of State of
and that neetingþ of tl¡e board, of directors from ti¡ne to tf¡ne
tn8y be held either at the princÍpal office or at such other
place as the board of directors shall irom time to tíme order.

Upon motion¡ duly made, seconded and carried, it was

RESOL\IED, that for ttre purpose of auttrorizing the cor.
poration to do business ín any state, territory or dependency
of the United States or any foreigm country in which it is
necessary or expedient for tt¡Ís corporation to transact busi-
ne68r the proper officers of tlris corporation are hereby
auttrorized to appoint and sr¡bstitute all necessary agents or
attorneys for setltrice of process¡ to designate and change the
location of all necessary statutory offices and, under the
cor?orate seal, to make and file all necessary certíficates,
reportsr Powers of attornêy and ott¡er instruments as nay be
requf.red by ttre laws of such state, territory, dependency or
country to authorize ttre corporation to transact business
therein.

The chairrnan then stated tt¡at 1t was desirable to desig'
nate a depository for ttre funds of the corporation. Thereupon,
on.rnotLon duly rnade, seconded and unanimously adoptedr it was

RESOI¿VEDr that ttre treasurer be and hereby is authorized
to oP f, of the corporation with

locat
and a se on the printed form of said
bank was adopted and was ordered appended to the minutes of
tl¡ie meeting.
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Upon notion duly made, seconded and carried¡ it was

REsoL\tED, that ttre board of directors be and hereby is
authorlzed to Lssue ttre unsr¡bscrlbed capital stock of the
corporation at such tines a¡rd in such amounts as it shall de-
ten¡l.ne r and to accept in payment thereof , cash, labor done,
personal propêrty¡ real property or leases thereof, or such
otl¡er property as ttre board may deem nècessary f,or the busi.
neaa of tÌ¡e corporation.
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The secretary then presented to the meeting a writtenproposal from tSpread êq.q/e ,4a/dtnasdated Þeplemóer I 19?+ and addreËsed ro rhis corpo-ratfon. '

upon motion duly made¡ eêconded and carried, the saidproposal was ordered filed with tÌre secretary, and he yras re-qirested to append a copy of tlre proposal to lúe rninties.
The proposal was taken up for consideratÍon and the for.rowing resolution lras on motLoñ unanimously adopted

- -!{HEREAS, a written proposal has been made to tl¡Ís cor-po_ration which proposal häs Ëeen appended to ttrese minutes,
and

. WHEREAS, in the Judgrment of the board of directors theassets proposed to be trañsferred to the corporation are,reasonably worth tt¡e amou¡¡t of the considera-tion demanded.therefor, and that it is Ln the besi, interests of thís cor-poration to accept the said òffer as set forth in saidproposaL. .

'T-tPw::--Jo îe ee. ive

NOI{ ÎHEREI1CRE , fT IS RESOL\|ED that said offer, as setforth fn sal.d proposalr be and the same hereby is approved.
and accepted, and that in accordance with the terms thereqf,tt¡is cor¡roratÍon shall as full nt for said proper Jn U5.caî/enc)/.i

ir
FURTHER REsoL\¡EDr tl¡at upon the derivery to.this corpo-ratíon of said assets and ttre ãxecution and aôlívery of suèhproper Lnstruments. as may be nece ey.

ttre same to ttris corporation, üre
ticin are authorized anA ¿irected

1i] le T?1
*t he-

Pla'v¡e .I the corporalìon,,
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Upon motion duly mader sêconded and carried, it was

REsoIrvED, ttrat the corporation proceed to carry on thebusiness for wh.ich it was Ínèorporated, and further
RESOLVEDì that the signing of these minutes shall con.:stitute full ratÍfication tt¡ereóf and waÍver of noti'ce of

the meeting by the signatories.
There being no fr¡¡tt¡er business before the meetingr on-

motion duly made, seconded and carried, the meeting was-ad-
Journed.

Dated: Seplem óer å ê/ /??4

secretary

À true copy of each of the following papers referred toin the foregoing minutes ís appended here[o:
Waiver of notice of the meeting

. Certíficate of fncorporation
Assignrnents of subscription
Resignation of directors
By-laws
S¡recimen stock certificates
nesolutLon designatlng d.eposÍtory of fundsproposal
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Thls Agruement is entered this iíhay of June 2000, by and betr¿ræen Hisham

Hamed and Naþh Yusef of 9.C Pdncess H¡ll, St Croix, United States Mrgin lslands

(hereinafter reËned to as'Seller') and Hakirna Salem oi2B & 2F EstateAnnas Retreat,

St Thomas, United States, Mryin lslands (hereinafter reþrred to as'Buyef ).

WIIEREAS, Hashim Hamed, Naiah Yusef and Hakima Salem are the holders and

regisÞred owrìers of 100 7o of the issued and outstanding shares of Y & S Corporation.;

and

YïHEREAS, Hisham Hamed and Naþh Yusef, desire to sell and transfer all of their

1,(X)0 sharcs of Y & S Corporation, to the Buyer purcuant to the obligations expressed in

$e shareholder agreement entered on September 20,1994; and

WIIEREAS, the Buyer is ready, willing and able to purehase the referenced stock

pursuant to the termg of the shaæholdeß agreêm€nt dated Septembe¡ 20,1994 and ln

accord with the terms hereinafrer provided;
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HOü therefor¡, in consideration of the promises and conditions hereinafter set

forth and heretofure and hereinafrerexpæssed he seller and buyer agree as follows:

1. Seller agrees to sell and transfer 1000 shares of common stock of Y & S Corporation,

lnc. representing allof sellefs stock ornership irrterest in thatcorporation, into escrowand

afrer fnal payment, to register such t¡ansfer of shares upon the books of the corporation.

2. ln considenation of the bansËr of ib 1000 shares of Y & S Corporation, lnc., Buyer

agrees þ pay to selle/s nominee, Mr. FathiYusef of 9-C Princess Hill, St. Croix the sum

of Nine Hundred Thousand ($ 900,000.00) Dollars

3. Price: The arnount due and payable hereunder shall be paid over a period of four (4)

years in fuur equal yearly installments, of Tr¡æ Hundred and Trrænty Five Thousand

($225,000.00) Dotlars. The first installment shall become due on January 15, 2001, and

the remaining installmenb shall becorre due on January 15,2002, January 15, 2003, and

January 15,2004.

4. lnterest Tlæ installrrents due heteunder shall aocrue interest on the outstanding

balance at a raÞ of trvelve percent (12%) per annum until the entire balance is paid in full.

Payrnent of lnterest ls waived provided payrrent of eac'h installment due is made within 30

days of the due date fur such inshllment. ln the event that an installment is late, the

interest payable or accruable to the date of the late payment shall be paid to the IQRA

Schoolin St. Croix, United StaÞsVirgin lslands. Furúrer, in the eventof default, asdefault

is dehned hereunder, all interest accrueble under this agreement shall be payable to the

IQRA School.

5. F,fauU lt ehall be a default under thls agreement if Buyer shall fail to pay principal

payments in the amount of Four Hundred Fifry Thousand (S450,000.00) Dollars on or
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bebre January 15,2002and the gracê period herein provided. lt shatl also be a default if

Buyer shatl fail to make timely paynrent of installments due on January 15, 2003 or

January 15,200{. within he allotted grace period. ln the eventthat Buyershalldefaultas

such tem isdefined herein, the sellermay acceleratethe remaining indebtedness, making

fte entire amountthen outstanding, lmmediately due and payable. Upon acceleration and

notice thereof, Buyer shall pay the entire principal balance then outstanding to the Selle/s

Nominee, Fathi Yusef and shall pay any and all accrued interest to the IORA Sclrool.

6. Escrow: The stod< sold underthis agreement shall be endorsed by the sellers

to the Buyer and such stock shall be held in Escrow by Robert L. King, Esq. until all

payrnnts due hereunder have been paid to the Selle/s Nominee. Robert L. King, as

escrow agent shall deliver the stock certificates sold hereunder to he Buyer within 30 days

of reoeipt of written notice ftom seJler that the entire purchase price has been paid in full.

The corporation shall immediately thereafrer cause the hansËr of shares to be registered

upon the books of the corponation. lf Buyer shall default in making the payments as

required by this egreernent wtthin the grace periods provided, and such default is not

cured wihln 60 days afier such default, then escrow agent may return said stock

certificaÞs to the seller or selle/s nominee without recourse ftom either Buyer or Seller.

Boür Buyer and Seller agree to hold escrow agent harmless ftom all manner of cost and

liabllfty as a result of escrow agent's attempt to perform his fi.¡nctions under his agreement.

ln tlre event of a dlspute overwt¡o should lawftrlly possess the stock certificates, escrow

agent may, but is not required to, refuse to deliver the certificates to either Seller or Buyer

and rnay hold the sarne pending a decision by an arbitrator. The arbitrator's decision

shall be ñnal and binding on the parties. Escrow agent shall act in accord with the
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arbbato/s decision, notwithstanding any actual or proposed appeal by the non-prevailing

party. Upon delivery of the stock certificates pursuant to arbitrator's decision or

discretionary delivery to the seller, the escrow agent shall be discharged of his duties.

7. Arbitration. The Parties agree that any claim or dispute betr¡ræen them or against any

agent, employee, successor, or assign of the other, wtrether related to this agreement or

otherwise, and any claim or dispute related to this agreement or the relationship or duties

contemplated underthis contract, including the validity of this arbitration clause, shallbe

resolved by binding arbibation by the National Arbitration Forum, under the Code of

P¡ocedure then in efiEct. Any award of the arbitrato(s) may be entered as a judgment in

any court of competent jurisdic{ion. lnformation may be obtained and claims may be filed

at any office of üre National Arbitration Forum or at P.O. Box 50191, Minneapolis, Mn.

55405. This agreement shall be interpreted under the FederalArbitration Act.

8. Buyer shall have üe right ftom the date hereof to act, with respect to the certificates

sold wÍü all auhority of the actual owner of such certificates except that the buyer may not

sell such stock certificates unless the proceeds of such sale are first applied to reduce the

indebtedness to the Seller.

9. Any and all bank accounts presently in the nane of the corporation shall remain the

property of the corporation and any claim of entitlement wtrich could be made by sgller to

sudt accounts is hereby waived.

10. Any and allobligations of the corporation, including but not limited to, income tax;

real property tax condominium fees; insurânce, employment taxes oi social securl$ shall

remain the obligation of the corporation and buyer shall hold seller harmless from each

and every such obligation. Buyer further agrees to hold seller harmless of and from
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liability of every kind and nature wt¡lch is retated to or derived in wtrole or paÉ from the

efstence of Y &S Gorporation, lnc.

I 1 . ln the erænt hat Buyer shall sell any of the assets of Y & S Corporation , lnc. before

the entre balanæ has been paid in full, the arnount so received shall be first applied to

lhuidate the balance lo the seller.

DATED: June 41 ,2000

5ll-

WITNESS

zø4-/
NA'ÁfrYU8ÚF ./

HAI(,'il,J}.J '
HÆo[dA sru-en
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE VIRG¡N ISLANDS
DIVISION OF ST. CROIX

MOHAMMAD HAMED,

Plaintiff,
v

FATHI YUSUF,

Case No.: 2014-SX-CV- 278

AGTION FOR DEBT AND
CONVERSION

Defendant. JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

ORDER

This matter is before the Court on the Plaintiff's Motion to Stay this case pending

the resolution of this claim in the companion case, Hamed v. Yusuf, STX CIV NO. 2012-

370. Upon consideration of the matters before me, said Motion is hereby Granted. This

case is stayed for a period of 6 months. The parties shall repod the status of this claim

in that case on or before August 15,2016.

Dated
ROBERT A. MOLLOY
Judge of the Superior Court

ATTEST: ESTRELLA GEORGE
Acting Clerk of the Court

By:
Court Clerk Supervisor

DIST: Joel H. Holt
Carl J. Hartmann, lll
Gregory Hodges
Nizar DeWood


